NO. 45569-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧,

ERIN RIEMAN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PACIFIC COUNTY

The Honorable Michael J. Sullivan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-930

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The appellant's *Alford*¹ plea to the charge of first degree manslaughter was involuntary and constitutes a manifest injustice because it was entered under duress and coercion.
- 2. The trial court erred in ruling that the appellant's evidence did meet the threshold requirements for withdrawal of his *Alford* plea under CrR 7.8(b).
- 3. The trial court erred in denying the appellant's motion for a hearing on the merits of his motion to withdraw the *Alford* plea or alternatively transferring the motion to the Court of Appeals under CrR 7.8(c)(2).
- 4. The trial court erred in ruling the appellant's motion to withdraw his *Alford* plea was not timely.
- 5. The trial court erred in denying the appellant's *pro se* motion for reconsideration.
- 6. The appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel in his attempt to withdraw his plea and vacate the conviction.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Does a trial court err if it denies an appellant an evidentiary

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

hearing on a motion to withdraw guilty plea and vacate a conviction when the motion sets out a factual and legal basis for the relief requested? Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5.

- 2. Where the appellant established a *prima facie* case of duress and coercion, did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to hold a full hearing on the merits of appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea or in the alternative, by transferring the motion to the Court of Appeals as a Personal Restraint Petition? Assignments of Error 2 and 3.
- 3. The trial court abuse its discretion in denying the appellant's motion to vacate his conviction, denying his motion for reconsideration, and in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the motion or transfer the case to the Court of Appeals where the appellant presented newly discovered evidence that reasonable diligence could not have discovered within the statutory one year period? Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5.
- 4. Did the appellant receive ineffective assistance of counsel while attempting to withdraw his *Alford* plea because counsel failed to diligently pursue the motion and present evidence pertaining to Walter Bremmer's subsequent arrest and conviction in a separate matter in Hawaii? Assignment of Error 6.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The Pacific County Prosecutor charged appellant Erin Rieman by amended information in Cause Number 09-1-00157-8, with one count of first degree manslaughter with aggravating circumstances. RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a). Clerk's Papers (CP) 5-6. Mr. Rieman was accused of the death of John Adkins. CP 5. On May 11, 2010, the defendant entered a written plea to the amended information pursuant to *Alford*. CP 7-15. As part of the plea, Mr. Rieman agreed to an exceptional sentence. Report of Proceedings (RP) (5/11/10) at 47.

On May 21, 2010 the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 132 months. CP 23.

2. October 11, 2013 Motion Hearing to withdraw Alford plea

On September 30, 2013, counsel for Mr. Rieman filed a motion for an order to withdraw his *Alford* plea pursuant to CrR 7.8. CP 48-52. Mr. Rieman's counsel offered as a reason for withdrawing the plea that it was involuntary because it was entered under duress and coercive threat against Mr. Rieman by Walter Bremmer, who was present at the time of the offense. CP 51-52. At the hearing on the motion, counsel argued that the threat by Mr. Bremmer against Mr. Rieman ended when Mr. Bremmer was arrested in

Hawaii for a subsequent offense and could no longer present a threat to Mr. Rieman. RP (10/11/13) at 3-4.

After hearing argument, the court refused to grant an evidentiary hearing, ruling that on the face of his claims, Mr. Rieman had not met the threshold to receive a hearing on the merits and therefore was not entitled to relief. RP (10/11/13) at 4-5. The court entered the following written order on October 11, 2013:

That the motion of the defendant to withdraw his guilty plea is denied. More than one year has elapsed since the defendant was sentenced. The defendant has not made a threshold showing that he meets the requirements for withdrawal of plea as listed in CrR 7.8(b) and RCW 10.73.100.

CP 56.

3. Motion for Reconsideration

On October 30, 2013, the appellant, now *pro se*, filed a motion for reconsideration of the trial court's ruling denying an evidentiary hearing. CP 59-64. In the motion for reconsideration, Mr. Rieman argued that the one year limitation in RCW 10.73.100 was inapplicable due to newly discovered evidence that Mr. Bremmer had been arrested in Hawaii, which was not known to Mr. Rieman until October, 2012. CP 60-62.

The court entered an order denying the motion for reconsideration on November 20, 2013. CP 94. Following entry of this written order, the

defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 104.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE APPELLANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA BECAUSE THE MOTION SETS OUT A FACTUAL AND LEGAL BASIS FOR GRANTING THE RELIEF REQUESTED

CrR 4.2(f) governs motions to withdraw guilty pleas. It provides that a court shall allow a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea "whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." CrR 4.2(f).

Washington courts have set forth four nonexclusive instances of "manifest injustice" necessitating withdrawal: (1) ineffective assistance of counsel, (2) a plea not ratified or authorized by the defendant, (3) an involuntary plea, and (4) the prosecutor's failure to keep the plea agreement. State v. Saas, 118 Wn.2d 37, 43, 820 P.2d 505 (1991) (quoting State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 597, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)).

In the case at bar, the motion was made after imposition of judgment and sentence, which was entered May 21, 2010. CP 16-20, 48-52. Thus, under CrR 4.2(f), CrR 7.8 governs. *State v. Forest*, 125 Wn. App. 702, 706, 105 P.3d 1045 (2005). CrR 7.8 sets forth the substantive basis for relief from judgment, along with a procedural framework which governs such

motions. However, the "manifest injustice" standard delineated in CrR 4.2 and the case law interpreting it nevertheless applies to motions conducted under CrR 7.8.

The denial of a motion to withdraw guilty is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Marshall*, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280, 27 P.3d 192 (2001); *State v. S.M.*, 100 Wn. App. 401, 409, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000).

The application of CrR 7.8(b) to post-judgment motion to withdraw a guilty plea places the motion within specified time limitations and procedural requirements. For example, as noted by the trial court in the case at bar, under CrR 7.8(c)(2), the court has the right to deny an evidentiary hearing if the defendant's motion is insufficient on its face. RP (10/11/13) at 5.

Due process requires an affirmative showing that a defendant entered a guilty plea intelligently and voluntarily with full knowledge of his legal and constitutional rights and of the consequences of the plea. *Woodv. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 501, 506, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976); *In re Woods v. Rhay*, 68 Wn.2d 601, 605, 414 P.2d 601, *cert. denied*, 385 U.S. 905 (1966); *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969); *State v. Ross*, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996); *State v. Barton*, 93

Wn.2d 301, 304, 609 P.2d-1353 (1980).

CrR 4.2(d) provides:

(d) **Voluntariness**. The court shall not accept a plea of guilty, without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea. The court shall not enter a judgment upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea.

Therefore, in order to be valid, a guilty plea must be voluntary. An involuntary plea constitutes a manifest injustice. *In re Pers. Restraint of Matthews*, 128 Wn. App. 267, 270, 115 P.3d 1043 (2005). Indeed, coercion of the accused to plead guilty is a basis for invalidating the plea regardless of whether there was any involvement or knowledge of the State in the coercion. *State v. Frederick*, 100 Wn.2d 550, 556, 674 P.2d 136 (1983), *overruled on other grounds in part, Thompson v. Dept. of Licensing*, 138 Wn.2d 783, 982 P.2d 601 (1999).

The defendant bears the burden of showing a manifest injustice. *Branch*, 129 Wn.2d 635, 641, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). On the other hand, the State bears the burden of proving the validity of a guilty plea. *State v. Ross*, 129 Wn.2d 279, 287, 916 P.2d 405 (1996). In the case at bar, Mr. Rieman's plea was involuntary because it was entered under duress and coercion. As argued in a memorandum provided by his attorney, Mr. Bremmer threatened

Mr. Rieman and his family, and that the threats only ended when Mr. Bremmer was "arrested and convicted of murder in Hawaii." CP 49. A letter by Mr. Rieman describing the threats by Mr. Bremmer and the allegation that Mr. Bremmer strangled Mr. Adkins and forced Mr. Rieman to watch. CP 50, 51. Mr. Rieman wrote that Mr. Bremmer threatened his life "if I did not support his story and help him dispose of John's body " CP 51.

The trial court erred in failing to provide an opportunity for a full hearing on the merits of Mr. Rieman's motion to withdraw his plea. If coerced, a plea of guilty is involuntary and constitutes a manifest injustice. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. at 243. Coercion renders a guilty plea involuntary whether or not the state was involved in or knew about the coercion. *State v. Frederick*, 100 Wn.2d 550, 556, 558-59, 674 P.2d 136 (1983) (reversed and remanded for a new trial on habitual criminal charge in which the defendant may present evidence of coercion in entering plea).

Extrinsic evidence is admissible in post-plea proceedings to determine a plea's voluntariness. *Frederick*, 100 Wn.2d at 553-54. A bare allegation of coercion, without other evidence in the record, is, however, insufficient to overcome a defendant's statements in the plea proceeding indicating that the

plea was voluntary. State v. Osborne, 102 Wn.2d 87, 97, 684 P.2d 683 (1984). In Mr. Rieman's case there is more than a bare allegation of coercion and duress. C.F., Osborne, 102 Wn.2d at 97. Here, it is not challenged that Mr. Bremmer was subsequently arrested after Mr. Rieman entered his Alford plea. Mr. Rieman asserts that the fact of Mr. Bremmer's conviction in Hawaii supports his argument that his plea was coerced and therefore involuntary, because Mr. Bremmer was revealed to be violent and capable of committing a violent offense. Mr. Rieman contends that not only was his plea involuntarily, but evidence of Mr. Bremmer's disposition should be presented to a jury in order to evaluate Mr. Bremmer's credibility as a witness for the State against Mr. Rieman.

Although permission to withdraw a guilty plea rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, such discretion should be "exercised liberally in favor of life and liberty." *State v. Saylors*, 70 Wn.2d 7, 9, 422 P.2d 477 (1966). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). Here, the court did not offer a tenable reason for denying Mr. Rieman's motion. Instead, the court merely stated that it agreed with the State

that the defendant had not made a threshold showing for an evidentiary hearing. RP (10/11/13) at 5.

Mr. Rieman contends that the facts presented in his letter attached to his counsel's motion establish a *prima facie* showing of a manifest injustice for which the court below should have granted a hearing on the merits. *See Inve Hews*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 83-85, 88, 660 P.2d 263 (1983). Alternatively, Mr. Rieman submits that he raised sufficient facts such that the court, if it chose not to grant a hearing, to transfer the matter to this Court as a PRP under CrR 7.8(c)(2).

Mr. Rieman's plea was coerced and thus involuntary. This Court should reverse the trial court, and remand for a hearing on the merits of Mr. Rieman's motion to vacate the conviction and withdraw his guilty plea, or accepts the matter as a PRP.

2. MR. RIEMAN TIMELY FILED THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL UNDER CrR 7.8(B) WHERE HE PRESENTED NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE TO THE COURT

As noted *supra*, options brought under CrR 7.8(b)(1) and (2) must be brought within one year of a final judgment. CrR. 7.8 provides that a motion for a new trial can be made when, among other reasons, there is newly discovered evidence that by due diligence could not have been discovered in

time to move for a new trial under CrR 7.5 (which requires such motions to be made within ten days after the verdict or decision.) CrR 7.8(b)(2). The rule states that any such motion must be made "within a reasonable time and for reasons (1) and (2) not more than one year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken, and is further subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130, and .140. CrR 7.8. In other words, a motion brought pursuant to CrR 7.8(b)(2) must be made within one year, but may be brought after the expiration of the one year period if allowed by the provisions of RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130, or .140. Under the terms of CrR 7.8(b), any motion brought under its provisions is specifically "subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130, and .140."

Under RCW 10.73.100(1), a motion constituting a collateral attack on a judgment may be made more than one year after final judgment if there is newly discovered evidence, and if the defendant acted with reasonable diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the petition or motion. In his motion for reconsideration, filed October 30, 2013, Mr. Rieman argues that Mr. Bremmer's arrest and subsequent conviction constitutes newly discovered evidence. CP 59-62. Mr. Bremmer was arrested on October 14, 2012, approximately two years after Mr. Rieman entered his plea. The

evidence of his arrest and conviction could not have been discovered by the time of trial by due diligence since the arrest occurred after Mr. Rieman entered his plea. Moreover, Mr. Rieman states that no one except Mr. Bremmer and Mr. Rieman knew about the threats as a result of Mr. Rieman witnessing Mr. Adkin's death. CP 61-62.

This constitutes reasonable diligence in filing the motion after discovery of this new evidence, as required by RCW 10.73.100(1). Mr. Rieman's motion to vacate his conviction based on newly discovered evidence is not time-barred.

3. MR. RIEMAN RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE
COUNSEL FAILED TO DILIGENTLY PURSUE
THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA BY
INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF MR,
BREMMER'S ARREST IN HAWAII.

If this Court finds the motion to withdraw the guilty plea untimely, this Court should nevertheless consider the appeal because Mr. Rieman received ineffective representation. Counsel's failure to properly investigate and brief the issue of coercion and apprise the court of the coercion by Mr. Bremmer, forcing Mr. Rieman to enter the plea, amounted to a denial of effective assistance of counsel, justifying withdrawal of Mr. Rieman's plea.

The test for ineffective assistance of counsel is (1) whether counsel's

performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) whether there is a reasonable probability the result would have been different, absent the errors. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2952 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). When Mr. Rieman first moved to withdraw his guilty plea, counsel presented no evidence of Mr. Bremmer's conviction for manslaughter in Hawaii other than Mr. Rieman's own letter. Instead, counsel merely filed a motion seeking to withdraw the plea and requesting an order of transport. CP 48. The motion contained a four paragraph "memorandum," which stated in relevant part:

Defendant was convicted of manslaughter in the first degree with an aggravating factor for the death of his friend and business partner John C. Adkins. Defendant asserts that his plea of guilty was an involuntary result of duress and coercive threats by Walter Bremmer against the defendant, his girlfriend at the time, his daughter and grandchildren who live in Hawaii. Those threats only ended when Bremmer was arrested and convicted of murder in Hawaii.

CP 49.

Counsel attached a letter by Mr. Rieman in which he described that Mr. Bremmer killed Mr. Adkins while on a fishing boat on July 5, 2009, and that he threatened his life and lives of his family members if he did not support his story. CP 50-52. Other than the letter, counsel presented no

substantive facts regarding Mr. Rieman's argument that he was threatened by Mr. Bremmer into entering the plea agreement.

Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence of Mr. Bremmer's conviction. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Mr. Rieman was prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to produce evidence of Mr. Bremmer's conviction, which tended to support the argument that Mr. Bremmer is violent, that he caused the death of Mr. Adkins, and that he threatened Mr. Rieman in order to cover up the crime.

Mr. Rieman has demonstrated the merits of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea, based on a manifest injustice, or that he is at a minimum entitled to a hearing on the merits of his motion.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should remand this case with an order allowing Mr. Rieman to withdraw his guilty plea. In the alternative, this Court should remand for a full hearing on the merits of the motion to withdraw the plea, or direct the trial court to forward the motion to this Court pursuant to CrR 7.8(c)(2).

111

111