### No. 45569-2-II

# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

Erin Rieman,

Appellant.

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID BURKE, WSBA#16163 PACIFIC COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE

P.O. BOX 45 SOUTH BEND, WASHINGTON 98586 (360) 875-9361

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts the Appellant's Statement of the Case.

### ARGUMENT

### 1. Standard of review.

The denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280, 27 P.3d 192 (2001); State v. S.M., 100 Wn.App. 401, 409, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000). Discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wash.2d. 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775, (1971). Therefore, in order for Mr. Rieman to be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea, the Court of Appeals must believe that "no reasonable judge would have made the same ruling" as the trial judge. State v. Woods, 143 Wash.2d. 561, 596, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001).

# 2. Mr. Rieman should not be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea; the trial court did not err in denying Mr. Rieman an evidentiary hearing.

An involuntary plea constitutes a manifest injustice. <u>In Re Pers.</u>

Restraint of Mathews, 128 Wash.App. 267, 270, 115 P.3d 1043 (2005).

However, the Appellant must jump a high hurdle to show that his plea was involuntary due to coercion. In this instance, Mr. Rieman asserts that his plea was coerced because his partner, Mr. Bremmer, threatened Mr.

Rieman and his family; from Mr. Rieman's perspective these threats never abated until Mr. Bremmer was "arrested and convicted of murder in Hawaii." CP 49; Appellant's Brief at 7-8. Although Mr. Bremmer's arrest in Hawaii occurred several years after Mr. Rieman pled guilty to manslaughter in the first degree with aggravating circumstances, Mr. Rieman insists that he was forced to plead guilty, because he believed he would be killed by Mr. Bremmer if he did not pled guilty.

The problem with Mr. Rieman's contention is that a bare allegation of coercion is insufficient to overcome a defendant's statement at a plea hearing that supports a finding of voluntariness. An appellant's self-serving allegations standing alone do not demonstrate the involuntariness of a plea. State v. Osborne, 102 Wash.2d. 87, 97, 684 P.2d 683 (1984). Mr. Rieman asserts that Mr. Bremmer's subsequent murder conviction in Hawaii constitutes new evidence that his plea was coerced and therefore involuntary. Appellant's Brief at 8-9. Unfortunately for Mr. Rieman, this assertion is a house of cards; an event that occurred after a plea of guilty was entered logically could not have affected a defendant's state of mind at the time of the plea. In essence, Mr. Rieman is asking the Court of Appeals to suspend the laws of physics and hold that a future event can affect the past. To put it bluntly, Mr. Rieman's subsequent knowledge about Mr. Bremmer's criminal activities in no way could have affected

Mr. Rieman's state of mind when he entered his guilty plea. Hence, Mr. Rieman's purported new evidence is not material to the question of whether Mr. Rieman entered a voluntary guilty plea. Because the only evidence of coercion is Mr. Rieman's self-serving statements, Mr. Rieman's argument is without merit.

In addition, the State would point out that when a defendant submits a written statement on a guilty plea and acknowledges that he has read it, understands it, and that its contents are true, "the written statement provides prima facie verification of the plea's voluntariness." State v. Perez, 33 Wash.App. 258, 261, 654 P.2d 208 (1982). Further, when a trial judge orally engages a defendant in a colloquy and assures himself on the record that the plea is voluntary, "the presumption of voluntariness is well nigh irrefutable." Id. at 262. In this case, the plea colloquy on May 11, 2010, takes up 54 pages in the Report of Proceedings. The most relevant part of this colloquy reads as follows:

THE COURT: Okay, thank you.

Now, you're pleading – you've already pled guilty to Manslaughter First Degree. Actually it's Manslaughter First Degree with Aggravating Factor pursuant to *In Re Barr* in the Amended Information.

Now, there's a paragraph on (sic) 11. Did your attorney write that paragraph for you? And it's okay if he did.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you. Did he review that paragraph, each and every word, carefully with you?

THE DEFENDANT: He did and I was there when he wrote it.

THE COURT: Thank you. Did you understand it?

THE DEFENADNT: Yes, I did.

THE COURT: Did you have an opportunity to ask as many questions as you wanted about that paragraph?

THE DEFENDANT: I've asked a lot of questions of my attorney. He's answered them all.

THE COURT: Thank you. Do you want any more time to discuss anything about this paragraph with your attorney.

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Thank you. Then are you at this time adopting each and every word of that paragraph as if you wrote it yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Exactly.

THE COURT: Thank you. And again, out to the left paragraph it says this statement is pursuant to an *Alford* plea, correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

THE COURT: There's a place for you to sign below paragraph 12. Is that your signature?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it is.

THE COURT: I'm asking you a lot of the same questions.

THE DEFENDANT: That's all right.

THE COURT:

Did you sign your name of your own free

will?

THE DEFENDANT: I did.

THE COURT:

Did anyone threaten you to make you sign?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT:

Did you have enough time to review this

document carefully with your attorney before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: I did.

THE COURT:

One last time, do you have any questions

whatsoever up to this point regarding this plea form?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir, Your Honor.

THE COURT:

Everything that you've done up to this point

have you done of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT:

Have you done it knowingly, intelligently,

and voluntarily to the best of your knowledge?

THE DEFENANT: Ye

Yes, I have.

THE COURT: At this time are you under the influence of any alcohol, drugs, or any prescription drugs that affect, in your opinion, your ability to think clearly and rationally today?

THE DEFENDANT: No, I have not.

THE COURT: I find that too. You've been paying very close attention, looking at me the whole time and answering questions in my opinion very knowingly and intelligently and voluntarily.

There are two boxes on the last page – I'm now on the last page. There's two boxes on the last page and I'm just asking you –

you already answered this but I'm asking you again. The first one says, "The defendant had previously read the entire statement above and that the defendant understood it in full."

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it's accurate.

THE COURT: Thank you. And then the second one says, "The defendant's lawyer had previously read to him or her the entire statement above and that the defendant understood it in full." Is that also accurate?

THE DEFENDANT: That also is accurate.

THE COURT: Okay, thank you. I'm going to check those two boxes then.

Now, Mr. Burke, --

DR. BURKE:

Yes.

THE COURT: -- any comments or questions or items you wish the State – the State – the Court to cover?

DR. BURKE:

No.

THE COURT:

Very well.

DR. BURKE:

I think you've covered everything we need

to.

THE COURT: Same question to you Mr. — well, not the same question, but Mr. Keehan, do you wish to make any comments regarding the plea before I accept Mr. Rieman's pela?

MR. KEEHAN:

I have nothing to add, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And Mr. Rieman, last time to you, do you have any questions whatsoever or any requests for any additional time to speak with Mr. Keehan?

THE DEFENDANT: No, I have no requests or need for additional time.

THE COURT: Very well. Thank you. Then at this time the Court is accepting your plea under the *Alford* system, your guilty plea under the *Alford* plea system finding you guilty of Count One of the Amended Information, Manslaughter in the First Degree with Aggravating Factor pursuant to *In Re Barr*. The Court finds that the aggravating factor is agreed, that it's an abuse of your trust, position of trust.

The RCW cited in the Amended Information were agreed that they were accurate and fully set forth, you know, a factual basis to support the plea.

In addition, I'm finding that the paragraph on page eight of nine, paragraph 11, also anchors in your plea of guilty under the *Alford* system and – under the *Alford* – excuse me, that anchors in your – excuse me, that anchors in the *Alford* plea.

Also, I'm making a finding that the *In Re Barr* that this pela is pursuant to an *In Re Barr* and that it is – has been clearly and accurately explained and that both counsel agree to this. And I – as far as I can tell, Mr. Rieman, from your answers to me, that you understood the *Alford* plea as well as this *In Re Barr* doc--- Is it considered a doctrine or is it just a –

DR. BURKE:

It's a case.

THE COURT:

So it's not a doctrine really.

DR. BURKE:

Right.

THE COURT:

Okay. -- this form of a plea.

I find that you had enough time to review this Plea Agreement with your attorney as well as the Apprendi waiver and as well as the Plea Agreement and especially the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty; that you understand it; that you entered into this Plea Agreement knowingly, intelligently, voluntarily; that no one threatened you, coerced you; that you had enough time to speak with your attorney, and I can only take you at your word that you said you would tell me if you wanted any more time or needed any more time that you would have spoken up and told me that. Based upon your answers to me earlier, I have no doubt in my mind whatsoever that you were well-- that Mr. Keehan covered each and every item of your plea today carefully with you and that you paid attention. Your answers to me are lucid

and, as far as I can tell, they're intelligent answers in response to my questions and that you're paying attention. And I don't find you're under influence of any -- anything at this time; that you're doing this, everything of your own free will knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. RP (5/11/10) at 43-49.

The upshot of the long passage quoted above is that Mr. Rieman told the Court that his plea was made freely and voluntarily and that no one had made any threats or promises to cause him to plead guilty. Mr. Rieman filled out a written plea statement and acknowledged that he understood the statement. Mr. Rieman indicated that he wanted to take advantage of the plea offer because he could be convicted of a more serious charge. See Statement on Defendant on Plea of Guilty to a Non-Sex Offense; Appendix A. Mr. Rieman's attorney also acknowledged that the State had a strong circumstantial case and that the plea bargain negotiated with was a reasonable way to proceed. RP (5/11/10) at 11. The trial court found that Mr. Rieman was paying close attention to the plea proceedings, that his demeanor indicated that he was intelligently and voluntarily answering questions, and that he voluntarily entered the plea agreement. RP (5/11/10) at 45-46, 48.

Given this set of facts, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Rieman an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Rieman's motion on its face did not provide sufficient information to justify the withdrawal of his

guilty plea. Additionally, the ends of justice would not be served by treating Mr. Rieman's motion as a personal restraint petition. See In Re Pers. Restraint of Carlsted, 114 Wash.App. 447, 455-456, 58 P.3d 302 (2002). Because Mr. Rieman's motion rests on a self-serving allegation, Mr. Rieman's request for relief should be denied.

# 3. Mr. Rieman did not timely file his motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

Under CrR 7.8(b) the court may relieve a party from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: ". . . (2) Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under rule 7.5; . . ."

Mr. Rieman asserts that Mr. Bremmer's subsequent murder conviction constitutes newly discovered evidence. Mr. Rieman believes that this purported new evidence brings him within the ambit of CrR 7.8. However, any motion subject to CrR 7.8(b) must be made within a reasonable time and for reason (2) not more than one year after the judgment was entered. In this case, the defendant's motion is not timely. The defendant pled guilty on May 11, 2010. Since Mr. Bremmer was arrested several years after Mr. Rieman's guilty plea, too much time has elapsed for this motion to be heard.

Additionally, CrR 7.8(b) is further subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130 and .140. In particular, for any motion filed more than one year after the judgment was entered, the defendant must satisfy at least one of the criteria listed in RCW 10.73.100. This statute reads as follows:

- 10.73.100 collateral attack When one year limit is not applicable. The time limited specified in RCW 10.73.090 does not apply to a petition or motion that is based solely on one or more of the following grounds:
- (1) New discovered evidence, if the defendant acted with reasonable diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the petition or motion; . . .

Mr. Rieman asserts that he is not subject to the one-year time limitation under RCW 10.73.090 because Mr. Bremmer's conviction for murder constitutes newly discovered evidence. Appellant's Brief at 11-12. Once again, the State would point out that the purported newly discovered evidence articulated by Mr. Rieman is not relevant because the new "facts" occurred after the defendant entered his plea of guilty. Thus, there is no valid basis to allow Mr. Rieman to proceed under RCW 10.77.090 and RCW 10.73.100.

In short, the purported evidence upon which Mr. Rieman relies is not really "new." Mr. Rieman was aware of Mr. Bremmer's purported threats at the time of the defendant's guilty plea. Subsequent events do not change the information that the defendant possessed at the time of his guilty plea. Actions taken by Mr. Bremmer after the defendant's guilty

plea was entered could not have affected Mr. Rieman's state of mind at the time of the guilty plea. Because the purported new evidence pertains to events after the defendant entered his guilty plea, (viz., Mr. Bremmer was convicted several years after the defendant entered his guilty plea), this purported new evidence could not have altered the defendant's perceptions at the time of his guilty plea. Hence, the defendant has not presented new evidence that would allow him to withdraw his guilty plea under CrR 7.8 and RCW 10.73.090 et seq.

Finally, the plea colloquy discusses in some detail the additional evidence that points to Mr. Rieman's involvement in criminal activity. RP (5/11/10) at 10-11. Thus, Mr. Rieman's assertion that he was coerced by Mr. Bremmer, should be taken for what it is -- a self-serving declaration that is not supported in any way by the plea colloquy.

Because Mr. Rieman has not produced extrinsic new evidence pertaining to his state of mind at the time he entered his guilty plea, his motion to withdraw his plea is time barred under CrR 7.8(b) and RCW 10.73.090 et seq.

# 4. Mr. Rieman's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel lacks merit.

a. Standard of review for claims involving ineffective assistance of counsel.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the Appellant must show both that (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient and (2) the deficient representation prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Grier, 171 Wash.2d 17, 32-33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). The failure to show either element ends the inquiry. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wash.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996), overruled on other grounds by Carey v. Musladin, 549 U.S. 70, 127 S.Ct. 649, 166 L.Ed.2d 482 (2006). Representation is deficient if, after considering all the circumstances, it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Grier, 171 Wash.2d at 33. Prejudice exits if there is a reasonable probability that except for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. at 34. Courts give great deference to counsel's performance and begin their analysis with a strong presumption that counsel's performance was reasonable. Id. at 33.

# b. Mr. Rieman cannot meet either prong of the Strickland test.

Mr. Rieman asserts that his counsel was deficient because no extensive investigation was conducted. Appellant's Brief at 13-14. The Appellant claims that counsel should have presented objective evidence of

Mr. Bremmer's murder conviction. Appellant's Brief at 14. This argument is not persuasive because Mr. Bremmer's legal troubles in Hawaii occurred after Mr. Rieman pled guilty; therefore, this purported new evidence does not relate to Mr. Rieman's state of mind at the time of his guilty pleas. Thus, it cannot be said that counsel's performance was deficient. Furthermore, under the second prong of the Strickland test, Mr. Rieman must show that he was prejudiced, i.e., there must be a reasonable probability that except for counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would have been different. More information about the criminal proceedings in Hawaii against Mr. Bremmer would not have caused the trial court to change its ruling given the colloquy that occurred at the plea hearing. Hence, Mr. Rieman cannot meet either prong of the Strickland test. Mr. Rieman's ineffective assistance of counsel claim should be rejected.

E.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing analysis, Mr. Rieman is not entitled to relief. Mr. Rieman should not be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. In addition, this matter should not be remanded to the Superior Court for a hearing on the merits. Mr. Rieman has not met his initial burden to justify

a reference hearing. Also, the ends of justice would not be served by treating this matter as a personal restraint petition. Simply put, the decision of the trial court should be upheld.